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This form is for use in nominating or requesting determinations for individual properties and districts.  See instructions in National Register Bulletin, How to Complete the National Register of Historic Places Registration Form.  If any item does not apply to the property being documented, enter "N/A" for "not applicable."  For functions, architectural classification, materials, and areas of significance, enter only categories and subcategories from the instructions.  
1. Name of Property

Historic name: Zion Chapel of Ease of Saint Luke’s Parish on Hilton Head Island site and cemetery
Other names/site number: Zion Chapel of Ease Cemetery and Baynard Mausoleum, 38BU1158 
      Name of related multiple property listing:
      ________N/A___________________________________________________

      (Enter "N/A" if property is not part of a multiple property listing
____________________________________________________________________________

2. Location 

Street & number: 574 William Hilton Parkway 
City or town: Hilton Head Island State: South Carolina County: Beaufort 
Not For Publication: 

Vicinity: 

____________________________________________________________________________

3. State/Federal Agency Certification  
As the designated authority under the National Historic Preservation Act, as amended, 

I hereby certify that this       nomination  ___ request for determination of eligibility meets the documentation standards for registering properties in the National Register of Historic Places and meets the procedural and professional requirements set forth in 36 CFR Part 60. 

In my opinion, the property  ___  meets   ___ does not meet the National Register Criteria.  I recommend that this property be considered significant at the following 
level(s) of significance:     
 ___national            __ statewide           ___local 

 Applicable National Register Criteria: 

_X__A             ___B           _X__C           _X_D        
	Signature of certifying official/Title: 


Date

______________________________________________

State or Federal agency/bureau or Tribal Government


	In my opinion, the property        meets        does not meet the National Register criteria.  

Signature of commenting official: 


Date

Title : 
                                   State or Federal agency/bureau
                                                                                         or Tribal Government 


______________________________________________________________________________

4. National Park Service Certification 


I hereby certify that this property is: 


      entered in the National Register 


      determined eligible for the National Register 


      determined not eligible for the National Register 


      removed from the National Register 


      other (explain:)  _____________________                      
                                                            
                     ______________________________________________________________________  

Signature of the Keeper


Date of Action

____________________________________________________________________________

5. Classification


Ownership of Property


(Check as many boxes as apply.)

Private: 


Public – Local



Public – State 



Public – Federal 


Category of Property


(Check only one box.)



Building(s)



District 



Site



Structure 



Object 


Number of Resources within Property


(Do not include previously listed resources in the count)             

Contributing 

Noncontributing

______1_______ 

____________

buildings

______1______ 

____________

sites

__  __________ 

____________

structures


____  30______ 

______4_____

objects

_____32______ 

______4_____

Total

Number of contributing resources previously listed in the National Register ___N/A______
____________________________________________________________________________

6. Function or Use 

Historic Functions
(Enter categories from instructions.)


__Religion: Religious Facility___

__Funerary: Cemetery__________

__Recreation & Culture: Monument/marker, Funerary Art

___________________


___________________


___________________


___________________

Current Functions
(Enter categories from instructions.)

_ ____________ 

_Work in Progress____

_Funerary: cemetery__________

___________________


___________________


___________________

_____________________________________________________________________________

7. Description 


Architectural Classification 


(Enter categories from instructions.)


_Mid 19th Century – Classical Revival_

___________________


___________________


___________________


___________________


___________________


___________________

Materials: (enter categories from instructions.)
Principal exterior materials of the property: 
Walls: BRICK, with Sandstone veneer
Roof: STONE, Limestone
Narrative Description

(Describe the historic and current physical appearance and condition of the property.  Describe contributing and noncontributing resources if applicable. Begin with a summary paragraph that briefly describes the general characteristics of the property, such as its location, type, style, method of construction, setting, size, and significant features. Indicate whether the property has historic integrity.)  
______________________________________________________________________________

Summary Paragraph


The 2.43-acre site of the Zion Chapel of Ease Cemetery is located at the corner of Mathews Drive and the heavily travelled William Hilton Parkway on Hilton Head Island, South Carolina. The island is the second largest barrier island on the East Coast of the United States at 69.2 square miles.  Prior to the Civil War the island featured 24 plantations that were growing Sea Island cotton.  After the Union Army and Navy occupation of the island from 1861-1868, 99% of the island’s residents were descendants of former slaves.  They remained isolated on the island with no bridge, no electricity, and no telephone service until the 1950’s.   The Hilton Head Company began lumbering operations on the island in 1950 and the modern development of the island began in 1956 when Charles Fraser laid out his plans for Sea Pines Plantation.  Subsequent development of the island has made it a premier resort destination that attracted 2.7 million visitors in 2015.  Today, the cemetery’s property is owned by the Heritage Library Foundation.  The site faces in an easterly direction and sits parallel to the headwaters of Broad Creek directly behind the Baynard Mausoleum.  The cemetery itself contains 34 markers, including four memorials, two obelisks, a box tomb, and a monument mounted on a pedestal.  Many of the markers are tympanum headstones with a willow and urn design and some of these gravesites also include a footstone.  Four of the markers are outside of the period of significance representing burials in 1890, 1905, 1922, and 1991.  Until the modern development of the island in the middle of the 20th century, this cemetery served as the burial place for the white population on the island.
Narrative Description 
Cemetery

The entrance to the cemetery of the Zion Chapel of Ease Cemetery is just past the corner of Mathews Drive and William Hilton Parkway, on the northern edge of the cemetery property.  There is an entrance sign (photo #21) on the right side of the driveway. Opposite the entrance sign is a landmark sign (photo #24) and behind it is the historic marker (photo #22) for the former site of the Zion Chapel of Ease.   The historic marker was unveiled on April 1, 1973 by the Hilton Head Historical Society which had been founded in 1961 by Dr. Robert Peeples.  The Heritage Library was founded in 1997 as an all-volunteer non-profit Family History Research Center.  In 2005, the Hilton Head Historical Society merged into the Heritage Library and it was at that time that the Heritage Library became the owner of Zion Chapel of Ease Cemetery (see Deed, photo #28).  Since then the Heritage Library has been Hilton Head Island’s History and Ancestry Research Center.  A 200 foot white concrete rail fence covers part of the northern boundary along William Hilton Parkway and also runs the length of the driveway, except for a five foot opening which is the entrance to the cemetery property. The fence is thirty-eight inches high and has a post every ten feet. There is an informational sign on the other side of the fence inside the cemetery property. When turning into the driveway you will notice the many live oak trees, the Baynard Mausoleum (photo #2-4) just to the left of the fence past the opening, and the waters of Broad Creek behind the property. Passing through the entrance you will see before you a stone paved walkway which leads up to the entrance gateway of the Baynard Mausoleum.  To the right of the walkway and arranged in a semicircle are eight wooden benches and a speaker’s platform that were recently placed there by donors (photo #17-18).   Educational programs about the history of the Planters and Revolutionary War Patriots are held here regularly by docents from the Heritage Library. The southern edge of the cemetery is bordered by Broad Creek.  To the north boundary of the site, a modern fence was added, as well as a dirt parking area for visitors’ convenience.  

Entering the cemetery grounds from the north, the Baynard Mausoleum is located to the west of the driveway. To the south of the Baynard Mausoleum are four distinct groupings of gravemarkers. To the southeast of the Baynard Mausoleum is a grouping of six gravestones dating from between 1798 and 1836, for members of the Irvine, Flinn, and Webb families. Mary Irvine’s tombstone (photo #12) is now partially obscured by a live oak tree which has grown around it. Due south of the mausoleum is a grouping of four grave markers. The northernmost of these was erected in 1991 and is noncontributing. The other three markers were erected between 1821 and 1832 for members of the Stoney and Barksdale families. Just south of the Stoney and Barksdale grouping are three grave markers erected between 1781 and 1803 for the Davant family (photo # 9,15,16). South of the Davant markers are three later grave markers dating from 1890 to 1922, for Schwarzer, Roberts, and Wagner. 

At the south end of the cemetery, east of the Davant markers, is the Kirk Family Plot (photo #10-11). The Kirk Family Plot is partially surrounded by a cast iron fence. The fence around the family plot has rusted and been vandalized as the fence at the front of the plot is missing. Many of the finials are missing and the gate is broken and lying on the ground. This plot is comprised of eleven gravestones, two obelisks, and a memorial monument for members of the Kirk and Baldwin families, with dates ranging from 1806 to 1858. The Kirk family plot contains the headstones for six Kirk children who did not live past the age of six. The grave of James Sealy, buried in 1819, is located just outside the fenced perimeter of the Kirk Family Plot at the far northern end of the east side of the fence.  The eastern side of the cemetery has a smaller number of grave markers. Martha Davant’s 1818 gravestone is located due east of James Sealy’s grave, with three additional early nineteenth-century Davant family graves to the north. 

The materials used for the grave markers in the cemetery were limestone, marble, and granite. One modern headstone is also located on the site from a burial in 1991 and is non-contributing. Of the remaining historic gravestones on the site, the condition of many of them is poor. The incised lettering on the stones is partially illegible due to weathering and organic material, which can be seen on the stones. 

Particularly notable examples of gravestone art include these stones (in chronological order):
Martha Davant: (1781-1818), a marble tablet with a willow and urn design. This otherwise secular symbol actually forms the circular arch at the top of the stone, and transforms an otherwise pensive symbol into a message of hope.  The "tree of life" growing out of the urn expresses a Western religious understanding of the hope of everlasting life.  This stone is signed “More and Lymann Sav.”

James Stoney: (1772-1827), a box tomb, constructed of brick, with a carved marble slab on top. The marble slab is signed “T. Walker.”  Thomas Walker established himself as a stonecutter in Charleston in the early 1790’s, and was active until the 1830’s.  Several of his sons and his son-in law John White also entered the trade. Works by the Walkers and Whites can be seen throughout the Lowcountry.  They appear in notable cemeteries throughout the state including Magnolia Cemetery in Charleston. 
Elizabeth Octavia Kirk: (1830-1845), a marble tablet, set in a sandstone base, with an arched top.  At the age of only 15 her stone was incised by well-known stone carver, W.T. White, of Charleston.  He and his brothers were the sons of John White of Scotland.  They were part of a dynasty of stone carvers that were most successful throughout the Southeast.
Rollin H. Kirk: (1828-1854), a marble obelisk. The obelisk is, to quote McDowell and Meyer in The Revival Styles in American Memorial Art, one of the “most pervasive of all the revival forms” of cemetery art.  In the Christian religion, the obelisk represents eternity with God. This obelisk was signed by W.T. White.

Dr. James Kirk: (1825-1858), a marble obelisk, similar to his brother’s, which is signed by J. Salla, a prolific Savannah gravestone carver, who incised “God be merciful unto me” on the obelisk.  Obelisks were also considered to be tasteful, patriotic, and perhaps, most importantly, obelisks were less costly than large and elaborate sculpted monuments.
Mausoleum
The Baynard Mausoleum was erected in 1846. The rectangular plan Classical Revival style 20-chamber mausoleum is constructed of brick with a red sandstone veneer formed to resemble ashlar masonry. The building features quoins, a wide, unadorned cornice line, and triangular pediments on the two gable ends. The front gable roof is made up of multiple slabs of limestone. Within the pediment on the gable end at the front of the mausoleum is a raised letter inscription which reads: “Wm. E. Baynard- Integrity and Uprightness.”   On both sides of the entrance door to the mausoleum are large inverted torches, which symbolize a life extinguished. The mausoleum is surrounded by a cast iron fence with concrete corner posts embossed with acanthus leaves at the top.  Many of the finials, some of which depict acanthus leaves, which once graced the top of the fence, are missing. The symbolism and meaning associated with the acanthus is that of enduring life, and the plant is traditionally displayed at funerary celebrations.  Acanthus symbolizes immortality in Mediterranean countries.

In 1930, Chlotilde Martin was hired by the Charleston News and Courier to produce a “series of illustrated stories about the estates in coastal South Carolina purchased and improved by wealthy men…” During her visit to Hilton Head Island, Ms. Martin visited the cemetery of the Zion Chapel of Ease and wrote the following:

“This is an old graveyard, centered by a tall, brown stone vault whose heavy doors
hang open and the skeletons of whose rotted coffins lie exposed in a curious world.
At the top of the vault is the inscription:  ‘Wm. E. Baynard - Integrity and Uprightness.’
 

There is no date. The vault is a handsome affair with room for many coffins. Two of the
coffins are form fitting and made of metal. These, however, have rusted and fallen to
pieces at the bottom. Other coffins have been desecrated; the tops pried open, and contain only a gruesome dust.  The outer doors of the vault are massive affairs made of two thicknesses of heavy wood. The inner doors are of marble, one of which is broken…It is said that the vault, which had been sealed, was burst open by Yankee soldiers who believed it contained valuables.” 
One of the cast iron coffins mentioned by Ms. Martin is currently being kept in storage by the Heritage Library (photo #30).
The mausoleum’s current condition shows visible signs of damage ranging from loss in stone to failure in the roofing system due to the decay of the original wood rafters, leaving the limestone slabs to slip down increasing the chance of total destruction.  A study done by Savannah College of Art and Design in 2013 identified a number of issues with the mausoleum’s structure.  Dr. Thomas Taylor and his Historic Preservation class spent two days on the site surveying the markers and assessing the condition of the mausoleum.  Because of the exceedingly high moisture content of the mausoleum’s walls, the study made several recommendations.  A modern, removable nylon roof covering has been added to keep moisture out of the structure and wooden support beams were previously added to the interior to support the weight of the roof. These structural supports are also removable. The support beams were added in 2005 and the nylon roof covering was added to the structure in 2014.  Other suggestions that have been implemented include the thinning of the trees above the mausoleum, to allow more sunlight to hit the structure, and the venting of the wooden door at the mausoleum’s entrance.  No other additions or repairs have been made to the mausoleum, upholding the integrity of the structure and keeping with the historic significance.  Dr. Taylor returned to the site in 2015 with another class and they found the moisture content of the walls to be in an acceptable range to allow restoration efforts to begin.  Consequently, the Heritage Library began a capital campaign in October of 2015 to raise the funds needed for the restoration.  The restoration process will involve removing the limestone roof and rebuilding the support beams for the roof.  The cast iron fence that surrounds the mausoleum has been vandalized, and some of the finials and the gate are missing.  Also missing are the white marble doors which were located at the entrance into the tomb. The Hilton Head Historical Society affixed a new door to the mausoleum’s entrance in 1986. Within the fence surrounding the mausoleum and three inches below the surface is a red sandstone tile floor.  The walls of the twenty burial chambers within the mausoleum still show evidence of a white stucco material applied over the brick. 
_________________________________________________________________

Applicable National Register Criteria 

(Mark "x" in one or more boxes for the criteria qualifying the property for National Register 


listing.)
A. Property is associated with events that have made a significant contribution to the broad patterns of our history.
 

B. Property is associated with the lives of persons significant in our past. 


C. Property embodies the distinctive characteristics of a type, period, or method of construction or represents the work of a master, or possesses high artistic values, or represents a significant and distinguishable entity whose components lack individual distinction. 


D. Property has yielded, or is likely to yield, information important in prehistory or history. 


Criteria Considerations 


(Mark “x” in all the boxes that apply.)


A. Owned by a religious institution or used for religious purposes
 

B. Removed from its original location 


C. A birthplace or grave 


D. A cemetery


E. A reconstructed building, object, or structure


F. A commemorative property


G. Less than 50 years old or achieving significance within the past 50 years 

Areas of Significance
(Enter categories from instructions.) 

SOCIAL HISTORY
ART
RESEARCH POTENTIAL_ 

Period of Significance
1786-1868___________________
___________________
___________________


Significant Dates 


1788

1795

1833_
___1846___________

1868

_______________
Significant Persons
(Complete only if Criterion B is marked above.)
Kirk, James__________ 

Baynard, William E.
Davant, Charles
Stoney, Captain John___ 

Schwarzer, Paulson_______

Cultural Affiliation 


___________________ 


___________________ 


___________________


Architect/Builder
     Unknown -Chapel___
     Unknown-Mausoleum
   _W.T. White_________
     T. Walker_
     J. Salla_______
     More and Lymann Sav.
Statement of Significance Summary Paragraph (Provide a summary paragraph that includes level of significance, applicable criteria, justification for the period of significance, and any applicable criteria considerations.) 
The Zion Chapel of Ease Cemetery is significant at the local level under Criterion A in the area of Social History.  It is also significant under Criterion C for Art for its ability to convey the late eighteenth-, and early nineteenth-century history of Hilton Head Island, and for its distinctive funerary art of the same period. Criterion D applies because of the Research Potential of the site that will be developed as the Heritage Library begins archaeological work.   The period of significance extends from 1795, the date of the first burial, to 1868, which marked the early years of Reconstruction and the approximate date of the destruction of the chapel building. The cemetery markers and the Baynard Mausoleum are now all that is left on the historic site of the previous Zion Chapel of Ease Episcopal Church of Saint Luke’s Parish. The chapel was built in 1788 and was extant until at least the start of the Civil War. Its precise fate is unknown, but the chapel was destroyed sometime between 1861 and 1868. The cemetery is located adjacent to the former site of the Zion Chapel of Ease. Although the chapel itself is gone, the extant cemetery continues to convey the historic significance of this site for the early Hilton Head planter community. The Zion Chapel of Ease Cemetery is an extremely rare piece of physical above-ground evidence of the colonial and antebellum history of the island. Indeed, the Baynard Mausoleum located within the cemetery and constructed in 1846, is the oldest intact structure on the island. The cemetery is the burial place of many members of prominent early Hilton Head families and also features grave markers crafted by prominent master stone carvers from Savannah and from Charleston, some ninety-five miles to the north. The cemetery therefore represents the history of the small but wealthy sea island community of Hilton Head between the American Revolution and the Civil War. The cemetery’s markers are also significant as representative of funerary art from the late eighteenth and early nineteenth centuries. As previously mentioned, a small number of markers within the cemetery are signed by stone carvers, at least two of which were master carvers operating out of Charleston: Thomas Walker and W.T. White. 
______________________________________________________________________________

Narrative Statement of Significance (Provide at least one paragraph for each area of significance.)  

SOCIAL HISTORY
Zion Chapel of Ease
St. Luke’s Parish, including Hilton Head Island, was formed from St. Helena’s Parish by an act of the South Carolina Colonial Assembly on May 23, 1767.  A new church to service the Parish was not built until c.1787, and it was located between Coosawhatchie and Scriven’s Ferry on Eutaw Road (present day Route 170).  The population on Hilton Head Island immediately following the American Revolution was made up of about twenty-five families. The planters on the island determined to build their own place of worship that would be within a reasonable distance of their homes. The chapel was constructed in the transition from the Anglican Church to the Episcopal Church, part of the post-Revolution effort to disassociate with Great Britain, and indeed was the first church constructed on the island following the war. It would remain the only church on the island before the Civil War.
In 1788, Captain John Stoney and Mr. Isaac Fripp built the Zion Chapel of Ease on Hilton Head Island for its residents, and services were alternated between the new chapel and the parish church.  The building was of wood on a brick foundation, 40’ x 30’.  It was furnished with an altar, prayer desks, pulpit, and pews.  The name Zion Chapel of Ease was chosen in part to reference the ease with which local parishioners could reach it. The main Parish church was 18 miles away on the mainland and there was no bridge at that time. The Chapel and its immediate vicinity were a place of community gathering and the center of island activities in the first half of the nineteenth century. The Mills Atlas map of 1825(photo #1) shows that adjacent to the church was a Militia Muster House and a Masonic Lodge.  Parishioners could reach the church by carriage or by boat through Broad Creek.
The Baldwin, Barksdale, Baynard, Chaplin, Davant, Fripp, Kirk, Pope, Stoney, and Webb families worshipped at the Zion Chapel of Ease.  These families were among the wealthiest in South Carolina.  Isaac Baldwin, Charles Davant, James Davant and John Stoney all fought in the Patriot militia during the Revolutionary War.  The planters eventually derived their wealth from planting and harvesting Sea Island cotton on their plantations.  Before the Revolutionary War, indigo was the main cash crop grown on Hilton Head Island.  This crop was subsidized by the British government and the crop was shipped to England each year.  It accounted for one third of the value of exports from South Carolina prior to 1776.  After the Revolutionary War, the British removed the subsidy and stopped purchasing indigo from their former colonies.  The plantation owners on Hilton Head Island had to come up with another crop and Sea Island cotton was that crop.  It was first grown successfully at Myrtle Bank Plantation on Hilton Head Island in 1790.  Sea Island cotton thrived in a mixture of pluff mud and crushed oyster shells. It had a very long staple fiber that would produce a fabric that felt like silk.  It brought prices that were 5 to 6 times the prices paid for regular, green, or upland cotton.  It was grown throughout the Sea Islands of South Carolina and Georgia and was tremendously profitable for the planters.  In 1794 54,000 pounds of Sea Island cotton were exported.  By 1801 that had grown to 8,300,000 pounds and by 1860 that figure had doubled to 16,000,000 pounds, which had a market value of almost $6,000,000 in 1860 dollars.  In 2015 dollars that would translate to $160,000,000.  All the planters named above were growing Sea Island cotton on their plantations up until the Civil War.  
With the invention and improvements to spinning machines, the value of sea-Island cotton soared and clothed the European upper class in finery. 
It was an era of wealth and elegance. Sons were educated in England, daughters carefully nurtured at home.  Family portraits were painted by artists of international fame; furniture and silver often came from England.  Town houses, buildings of substance and beauty, were at Beaufort (35 miles away) or in Charleston.  Of note was William Eddings Baynard's town house among Savannah’s architectural gems, the Isaiah Davenport House (built in 1820) which became Baynard's main home from 1840 until he died in 1849.  The house stayed in the family until 1955.  Today, it is the home of the Savannah Historical Foundation.  Also in Savannah, on St. Julian Street, there is a house today which bears a plaque that is inscribed “The Town House of William Pope, Planter of Hilton Head Island.  Built about 1810.”
There were several temporary rectors of the Zion Chapel of Ease at first, but the first permanent rector was Philip Mathews, whose family became prominent landowners on the island.     The Reverend Philip Mathews became the first permanent minister of the Zion Chapel of Ease in the early 1820’s and would hold that position until his death in 1828.  In 1833 the Rt. Rev. Nathaniel Bowen, Third Bishop of South Carolina, consecrated the Zion Chapel, it having been, the record cryptically says, “thrown out of use as to the worship for which it had been originally erected, but now happily recovered.”  At this time a silver communion service was ordered from the Barnard Brothers Silversmiths in London, England.  The chalices bear the inscription: “Zion Chapel, Hilton Head, 1834 (photo #20).”  Diocesan records show that Divine Services were regularly held in the Zion Chapel until November of 1861 when the plantation owners left Hilton Head as the Union Army began its occupation of the island.  
When the Rev. Dr. James Stoney (1820-1870), a great-grandson of Captain John Stoney, builder of Zion Chapel, was able to return to his Rectorship of the Church of the Cross in Bluffton in 1867, his 1868 report says that the Zion Chapel, having been built of wood, had entirely disappeared, its Eucharistic silver and all its furnishings, altar, prayer desks, pulpit, and pews were all gone.  On July 17, 1956, the Reverend John W. Hardy, Rector of St. Helena’s Parish sent a letter to the Right Reverend Albert Thomas, Bishop of the Diocese of South Carolina (photo #29). The letter relates how a gentleman had purchased two silver goblets in a second hand store in Philadelphia as a gift for his daughter.  She refused to accept them when she saw that they were communion chalices and she was able to read the inscription.  The man was traveling south and dropped the chalices off at the rectory of St. Helena’s Parish.  Reverend Hardy states that he will hold the chalices and will be glad to give them to any Episcopal mission church that is established on Hilton Head Island.  He was true to his word.  The chalices were used in the inaugural service at Saint Luke’s Episcopal Church on Hilton Head Island on Christmas Eve, 1964, and are still being used at that church to this day.

Cemetery
The first burial at the Zion Chapel of Ease Cemetery was that of Lydia Davant in 1795. The cemetery is the final resting place of two Revolutionary War Patriots, James Davant and Isaac Baldwin.  Charles Davant, the only Patriot casualty on the island during the Revolutionary War, was buried at his plantation, Two Oaks, in 1781, but later memorialized at the chapel cemetery.  Captain John Stoney was killed in a hunting accident near Fish Haul Creek and was buried where he fell in 1821, but also has a memorial at the cemetery. 

In 1846, William Eddings Baynard, a local planter, built a 20-chamber mausoleum for himself and his large family. The mausoleum gable reads, “W. E. Baynard, Integrity and Uprightness.” Mr. and Mrs. Baynard were buried in cast iron caskets such as those from the Fisk and Raymond Company in Providence, Rhode Island.  These coffins were like a form fitting sarcophagus, with a glass faceplate.  An article that appeared in The State newspaper in Columbia, SC, in 1901 reports that the mausoleum had been broken into and its coffins, including the two cast iron ones, had been opened and strewn about the ground.  The mausoleum would not be sealed again until the Hilton Head Historical Society had a door affixed to the mausoleum’s entrance in 1986.

Among the prominent people buried at the Zion Chapel of Ease Cemetery are:

William Eddings Baynard (1800-1849), a wealthy plantation owner who owned 3 plantations on Hilton Head Island (Braddock’s Point, Muddy Creek, and Spanish Wells) as well as others in Bluffton and Edisto Island.  His fortune came from Sea Island cotton which was the major crop grown on Hilton Head Island from 1790-1861.  He also owned the Davenport House in Savannah, Georgia.  He had his mausoleum erected in 1846.  According to the Reverend Dr. Robert E.H. Peeples, Baynard’s funeral service was a monumental affair on the island in 1849.  All the plantation owners shut down their operations for the day and their slaves lined the roads to pay their respects to the departed Mr. Baynard as the funeral procession passed on its way to the Zion Chapel of Ease. A black-draped wagon carrying his body led the procession, followed by the Baynard’s formal black carriage and numerous other carriages which transported family and friends.  His funeral was attended by all the Island plantation owners- Stoney, Kirk, Pope, Lawton, Drayton, and Seabrook.  His brother, Ephraim, escorted Mrs. Baynard, who was expecting their eighth child at the time, and her seven children.  
James Kirk (1780-1850), the Kirk family owned Callawassie Island.  James was a wealthy successful Sea Island cotton planter, known throughout the lowcountry of South Carolina and by the largest British cotton mill owners for many decades.  According to the 1850 census of St. Luke’s Parish of Beaufort County, SC reveals that he was the second largest cotton producer in the parish.  He amassed over 10,000 acres in southern Beaufort and Jasper counties.  He built a large home on the banks of the May River, known as Kirk's Bluff or Kirk's settlement. It later became known as the town of Bluffton. He was also the owner of Rose Hill Plantation on the Colleton River and Bonnie Doon Plantation in Colleton County.  His daughter, Caroline, married her first cousin, Dr. John Kirk, and as a wedding present received Rose Hill Plantation.  The Kirk family donated the land for the Church of the Cross which was built in Bluffton in the 1850’s.
Isaac Baldwin (1752-1826), he was a member of the Continental Army during the Revolutionary War and rose to the rank of Lieutenant.  He was the owner of the Baldwin Plantation.  His daughter, Mary, married James Kirk in 1807, when she was 14 years old.
James Davant (1744-1803), he was born on Edisto Island and when he was 14 the family settled on Point Comfort Plantation on Hilton Head Island.  James served in the local militia during the Revolutionary War and is listed as a member of the Bloody Legion which avenged the death of his younger brother, Charles, who was ambushed by Daufuskie Island Tories in 1781.  James owned the following plantations on Hilton Head Island at the time if his death- Marshlands, Point Comfort, Sand Hill, Possum Point, and Folly Field.

Thomas Barksdale (1795-1832), owned the following plantations- Skull Creek, Calibogia, and Baldwin. He died without an heir and his estate was valued at over $42,000.   Most of his Skull Creek Plantation was sold to Squire William Pope.  The balance of that plantation was sold to William Seabrook of Edisto Island.  In 1836 his widow, Martha Stoney Barksdale, married her first cousin, the Reverend Joseph A. Lawton and Calibogia Plantation then became known as Lawton Plantation.
Paulson Schwarzer (1853-1905), although outside the period of significance, his gravesite and headstone are representative of the fact that the Zion Cemetery was the only cemetery for white people on the island until the middle of the 20th Century.  Paulson Schwarzer was the Assistant Keeper of Hilton Head’s Rear Range Lighthouse (today known as the Leamington Lighthouse) from 1889-1891 and the Head Lighthouse Keeper from 1891-1905.
Victor Leroy Johnson (1950-1991), also not in the period of significance, but he was a descendant of the Stoneys and Kirks.  He had requested to be buried with his ancestors and the Reverend Dr. Robert E.H. Peeples, the President of the Hilton Head Island Historical Society,
granted his request after his death.
ART
Funerary Art
Stone carvers are perhaps the oldest artists in the world.

It is exciting to study the history and the artists that contributed so much to our knowledge of the time that they were actively participating in memorials all over the world.  With the development of iron, carving tools were created and tempered so that the stone could be shaped and cut without damaging the tools or destroying the stone.  Gravestones could be crafted from granite, limestone, marble, slate, and even metal.

The halcyon days of gravestone carving in the US began during the 19th century and 

continued into the 20th.  Cemetery stone carver became a well-respected profession 

in America. Carving grave markers gave these men a way to express their artistic talents,

and earn a living! Proud of their work, carvers began to sign the grave markers that they had carved.  There is actually a Stone Cutters Monument erected by the Bedford Stone Cutters Association in 1894. 

Often a person’s wealth and status in their community determined the size of their

mausoleum, grave sculpture, or headstone. 
Unfortunately, the art of stone carving by hand is vanishing from American cemeteries. A monument or marker is now cut with laser and disc, without the intimate feel of a hand carving.

Although the Zion Cemetery is, comparatively, a small one, it is a good example of that 

period of time of its significance.  There are no statues, but the size, design, and structure of

the Baynard Mausoleum is one of significance.  It is the oldest extant structure on Hilton Head Island and reveals a great deal about our history.

The question is often asked about the meaning of the carvings on the gravestones.

There are books and articles written on the subject but even professional scholars 

disagree sharply about the meaning of particular designs. The varying opinions stimulate 

interest and further study.  Sometimes they are the idea of the stone cutter, but perhaps 

more often, they are expressing the feelings/ideas of the family and/or loved ones.

Interestingly, the date of a head stone, although accurate as to the date the death occurred.

may have been done years later when the family could afford the stone!

There are only four signed head stones and one signed box tomb cover in Zion.  
The stones in Zion are perhaps “underwhelmed” with iconography.

The stones have suffered greatly from vandalism and the weather for many years.

There are incised willow trees with or without crosses; many willow trees with urns,  

The willow and urn design is present on nine of the grave markers in the cemetery.  The "tree of life" growing out of the urn expresses a Western religious understanding of the hope of everlasting life.  

The other examples of symbolism in the cemetery are found at the Baynard Mausoleum.  On both sides of the entrance door to the mausoleum are large inverted torches, which symbolize a life extinguished. The mausoleum is surrounded by a cast iron fence with concrete corner posts embossed with acanthus leaves at the top.  Many of the finials, some of which depict acanthus leaves, which once graced the top of the fence, are missing. The symbolism and meaning associated with the acanthus is that of enduring life, and the plant is traditionally displayed at funerary celebrations.  Acanthus symbolizes immortality in Mediterranean countries.

The Obelisk
The obelisk is, to quote McDowell and Meyer in The Revival Styles in American Memorial

Art, one of the “most pervasive of all the revival forms” of cemetery art.

There is hardly a cemetery founded in the 1840’s and 1850’s without some form of Egyptian

influence in the public buildings, gates, tomb art, etc.  

Obelisks were also considered to be tasteful, patriotic, able to be used in relatively small 

spaces, and, perhaps, most importantly, obelisks were less costly than large and elaborate

sculpted monuments.  In the Christian religion, the obelisk represents eternity with God.
There are two obelisks in Zion Cemetery, located in the Kirk Plot.   Rollin H. Kirk’s is inscribed in all capital letters as follows: TO THE MEMORY / OF / ROLLIN H. KIRK / DEPARTED THIS LIFE / THE 2ND DECEMBER 1854. / IN THE 26TH YEAR OF HIS AGE. / "IN THE MIDST OF LIFE / WE ARE IN DEATH."  This was carved by Stone Carver W. T. White.  The second obelisk is dedicated to Dr. James Kirk, and is inscribed:  In / Memory Dr. James Kirk, / Born 10th Jany. 1825. / Died 31st July 1858. / "God be merciful unto me." The carver of this obelisk was J. Salla.
In the Christian religion, the obelisk represents eternity with God. 
Stone Carvers
The incised carving for Martha Davant, who died in 1818, was done by More and Lymann, Sav.:
It is one of the examples of a Willow and Urn.

W.T. White was a master carver, part of the successful White family who worked in 

Charleston during the nineteenth century.  Their names are noted on many lowcountry

gravestones.  The Walkers were another successful family in Charleston.  Thomas Walker

established himself as a stonecutter in Charleston in the early 1790’s, and was active until
the 1830’s.  Several of his sons and his son-in law, John White, also entered the trade.

Works by the Walkers and Whites can be seen throughout the Lowcountry.

They appear in notable cemeteries throughout the state including Magnolia Cemetery

in Charleston. 
The carver’s name is usually set low, at the center or right side of the on either the front

or back of the stone, and carved in plain roman or italic-script capitals.

 

Burial Cases 

 

The burial cases for at least two of the Baynards, were patented in 1848 by Almond Dunbar Fisk under U.S. Patent No. 5920 and manufactured in Providence, Rhode Island. 

They were publicly unveiled at the New York State Agricultural Society Fair in Syracuse, 

NY and the American Institute Exhibition in New York City. 

 

The cast-iron coffins, or burial cases, were popular in the mid-1800's among wealthier families. It was thought they would deter grave robbers.  But as we have discovered, when the Baynard mausoleum was vandalized, all the coffins were thrown onto the cemetery grounds along with some wooden coffins and perhaps even thrown into the bordering Broad Creek. 

 

The case was custom-formed to the body, resembling an Egyptian sarcophagus.

with sculpted arts and a glass window for viewing the face of the deceased, without 

the risk of exposure to odor or pathogens. 

 

On December 7, 1888, the New York Times reported that the Metallic Burial Case

Company was folding. 

 

The Heritage Library is fortunate to have a single coffin that was rescued years ago

and has been kept in storage.  The plan is to have it displayed correctly in the 

mausoleum, after the restoration of the Mausoleum takes place. 
RESEARCH POTENTIAL
Archaeological Study
The Heritage Library is currently awaiting proposals from three archaeologists for a study of the cemetery grounds to determine the location of the Chapel of Ease. The church structure was reported missing in a report by Reverend John Stoney, the Rector of St. Luke’s Parish when he returned to the island in 1868.  In addition it should be possible to locate other gravesites and the church’s outhouse which will contribute to our knowledge of the site and the period of significance.
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Previous documentation on file (NPS): 
____ preliminary determination of individual listing (36 CFR 67) has been requested

____ previously listed in the National Register
__     previously determined eligible by the National Register
____ designated a National Historic Landmark 

____ recorded by Historic American Buildings Survey   #____________
____ recorded by Historic American Engineering Record # __________
____ recorded by Historic American Landscape Survey # ___________
Primary location of additional data: 
__X_ State Historic Preservation Office

____ Other State agency

____ Federal agency
____ Local government
____ University
____ Other
         Name of repository: _____________________________________
Historic Resources Survey Number (if assigned): ________________

______________________________________________________________________________

9. Geographical Data

 Acreage of Property __2.43 acres_____________

Use either the UTM system or latitude/longitude coordinates

Latitude/Longitude Coordinates (decimal degrees)
Datum if other than WGS84:__________

(enter coordinates to 6 decimal places)

1. Latitude: N 32.201672

Longitude: W -80.699790


2. Latitude: 

Longitude:


3. Latitude: 

Longitude:


4. Latitude: 

Longitude:

Or 

UTM References 
Datum (indicated on USGS map): 




         NAD 1927     or   
    NAD 1983
1. Zone: 
Easting: 


Northing: 



2. Zone:
Easting: 


Northing:

3. Zone:
Easting:


Northing:

4. Zone:
Easting :


Northing:
Verbal Boundary Description (Describe the boundaries of the property.)

The property is bordered on the East by William Hilton Parkway and on the West by Broad Creek.  To the South the property is adjacent to the building and land owned by the Darling Eye Center.  The property line on the North, just past the parking area, is adjacent to some land owned today by the Town of Hilton Head Island.
Boundary Justification (Explain why the boundaries were selected.)

The western boundary is a body of water, Broad Creek.  The eastern boundary is a road that has been in its current position at least since the 1825 Mills Atlas map was made.  The other boundaries were determined when the adjacent land was sold in the 19th century.
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telephone:___843 671-4865___________
date:___September 18, 2016__________________________
name/title: __Ludwig Benfante, President of the Board of Directors_____________
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Additional Documentation

Submit the following items with the completed form:

· Maps:   A USGS map or equivalent (7.5 or 15 minute series) indicating the property's location.
   
·  Sketch map for historic districts and properties having large acreage or numerous resources.  Key all photographs to this map.

· Additional items:  (Check with the SHPO, TPO, or FPO for any additional items.)

Photographs

Submit clear and descriptive photographs.  The size of each image must be 1600x1200 pixels (minimum), 3000x2000 preferred, at 300 ppi (pixels per inch) or larger.  Key all photographs to the sketch map. Each photograph must be numbered and that number must correspond to the photograph number on the photo log.  For simplicity, the name of the photographer, photo date, etc. may be listed once on the photograph log and doesn’t need to be labeled on every photograph.
Photo Log

Name of Property:
 Cemetery of Zion Chapel of Ease
City or Vicinity: Hilton Head Island
County:  Beaufort




State: SC
Photographer: Alberta Norton, E.W. Alstaetter, Ludwig Benfante
Date Photographed: 2011, 2012, 2015, 2016
Description of Photograph(s) and number, include description of view indicating direction of camera:

1) Section of 1825 Mill’s Atlas map of Beaufort County showing area around Zion Chapel of ease to be the center of island activities at that time- the Militia Muster House and Masonic Lodge were close to the church

2) Drawing of east elevation of Baynard Mausoleum

3) Exterior view of Baynard Mausoleum

4) Interior view of the Baynard Mausoleum showing some of the burial chambers

5) View of cemetery grounds from Southeast corner

6) View of cemetery grounds looking towards the North

7) Beaufort County map with aerial view of cemetery property

8) Beaufort County Street map showing cemetery property

9) Headstones of James Davant and Lydia Page Davant (she was the first burial in the cemetery in 1795)

10) A view of the Kirk Family plot looking towards the Southwest

11) A view of the Kirk Family plot looking from the Northeast corner of the property

12) Headstone of Mary Irvine (1762-1821) now partially obscured by a live oak tree

13) Memorial and headstone of Isaac Baldwin (1752-1826) a member of the South Carolina Militia in the Revolutionary War

14) Memorial for Captain John Stoney a Revolutionary War soldier and owner of 5,400 acres on Hilton Head Island before his death in 1821

15) Memorial for Charles Davant who was ambushed and killed by a Tory Militia unit from Daufuskie Island in 1781

16) Memorial for James Davant (1744-1803) who served  in the South Carolina Militia during the Revolutionary War

17) The new Outdoor Learning Center looking Northeast from the Baynard Mausoleum

18) Looking Northwestward at the Baynard Mausoleum and Learning Center 

19) An aerial view of the property-cemetery is obscured under tree cover

20) Zion Chapel of Ease silver communion service purchased from Barnard Brothers Silversmiths in London in 1834

21) The cemetery driveway entrance looking towards the Southwest
22) The South Carolina historical marker for the Zion Chapel of Ease and cemetery that was erected in 1979

23) An informational sign about the history of the Zion Chapel of Ease

24) The landmark sign for the Cemetery and Mausoleum at the entrance to the parking area

25) A panoramic view of the cemetery looking towards the Southwest showing Broad Creek on the right

26) A longer angle panoramic view of the cemetery looking towards the Southwest

27) Survey of Zion Cemetery property
28) Copy of Deed conveying title to Zion Cemetery property to the Heritage Library Foundation

29) 1956 Letter from Rector of St. Helena’s about the Zion Chapel’s silver Communion service 

30) A cast iron coffin from the Baynard Mausoleum
Paperwork Reduction Act Statement:  This information is being collected for applications to the National Register of Historic Places to nominate properties for listing or determine eligibility for listing, to list properties, and to amend existing listings.  Response to this request is required to obtain a benefit in accordance with the National Historic Preservation Act, as amended (16 U.S.C.460 et seq.).

Estimated Burden Statement:  Public reporting burden for this form is estimated to average 100 hours per response including  time for reviewing instructions, gathering and maintaining data, and completing and reviewing the form.  Direct comments regarding this burden estimate or any aspect of this form to the Office of Planning and Performance Management. U.S. Dept. of the Interior, 1849 C. Street, NW, Washington, DC.
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